Invest in Educators Series

SREB

Southern Regional Education Board Teacher Induction Framework

July 2025

Southern Regional Education Board

SREB.org

Contents

| Invest in Educators Through Induction | 1 |
|---|----|
| What Is Teacher Induction? | 1 |
| Why Is Teacher Induction Important? | 1 |
| Data to Support the Need for Induction | 2 |
| SREB Teacher Induction Framework Core Components and Elements for Success | 4 |
| Core Component: A Tiered Support System for Novice and Mentor Teachers | 6 |
| Support System Policies | 6 |
| Support System Implementation | 8 |
| Core Component: Leadership for Teacher Success and Retention | 10 |
| Systems-Focused Instructional Leadership | 10 |
| Induction-Focused Instructional Leadership | 12 |
| Core Component: High-Quality Mentoring | 13 |
| Targeted Mentoring | 15 |
| Just-in-Time Mentoring | 16 |
| Core Component: Professional Learning for Positive Teacher and Student Outcomes | 17 |
| Novice Teacher Development | 17 |
| Mentor Teacher Development | 19 |
| Sources | 20 |

This guidance document was produced by the Southern Regional Education Board as part of SREB's comprehensive support focus for the educator workforce in the South and around the U.S. SREB authors include: Amanda Merritt, division director, development and innovation, Debbie Anderson, program director, Teaching to Lead, Debbie Barnett, leadership coach, Debbie Robertson, senior leadership coach, Juliana Coleman, instructional coach, Megan Boren, program director, educator workforce, Joe Tadlock, director, research and evaluation, Kimiya Munni, policy analyst II and Steve Broome, senior director, school improvement state and district partnerships.

Southern Regional Education Board Teacher Induction Framework

Invest in Educators Through Induction

Every student deserves a great teacher. We must have great educators who can fully prepare the next generation of leaders, entrepreneurs and workers to sustain state and local economies.

Schools face a significant challenge in finding both the quantity and the quality of teachers they need. Shortages are particularly high in the South. The Southern Regional Education Board is committed to helping states, districts and schools develop, support and retain a strong educator workforce. This is a complex effort with many facets. This publication addresses one essential and foundational element— high-quality induction for early-career teachers. In addition to this document, SREB has produced or sourced additional resources to help districts and schools put this framework into action.

What Is Teacher Induction?

SREB defines induction as a comprehensive support system designed to help new teachers transition smoothly into their roles, adapt to their new environment, and develop their skills to implement high-impact instructional practices and create a positive classroom culture. Ultimately, the objective should be increased teacher retention, higher teacher self-efficacy and improved student outcomes.

Two key goals of high-quality teacher induction programs are to increase retention and improve novice teachers' skills, ultimately improving student achievement (Ingersoll, 2012). Research has produced evidence that high-quality induction programs can increase teacher effectiveness and improve student learning when implemented well (Glazerman et al., 2010; Ingersoll & Strong, 2011; Young et al., 2017). Induction programs can return substantial financial benefits well beyond their investment by reducing the costs of recruiting, hiring and orienting new teachers to the district and school culture (Villar & Strong, 2007).

At least 31 states in the nation, including at least seven in the SREB region, require districts to provide some level of support for novice teachers and their mentors through an induction program, according to the Education Commission of the States.

Why Is Teacher Induction Important?

To recruit and retain enough quality educators, it is important to focus on ways to make teaching a more attractive profession. One essential element of any career is the structure of ongoing support for entry-level employees. Teaching is no different. A comprehensive system of support provides new talent with opportunities to learn from experienced colleagues, practice and master the craft, and set challenging yet achievable goals for improvement. In these ways, induction for novice teachers can foster professional growth, satisfaction and even retention.

Novice teachers who receive comprehensive induction support are twice as likely to remain in the profession (Espinoza et al., 2018). Teacher induction programs not only play a crucial role in retaining novice educators, but also in ensuring their effectiveness. Novice teachers often cite a lack of adequate support as a major factor in their decision to leave the profession (Ingersoll & May, 2011). By providing structured mentorship and professional learning, induction programs help novice teachers build confidence, develop their instructional skills and foster a sense of professionalism (Kessels, 2010). These programs not only benefit teachers but also have a direct impact on student achievement, as research consistently shows that teachers play a significant role in determining student success (Sancassani, 2023). However, the goal is not simply to retain teachers but to retain high-quality teachers — those who are well-prepared, engaged, and effective in fostering student learning.

Induction programs ensure that teachers receive the necessary training and support to grow into highly skilled professionals who remain committed to the field.

A key factor in both teacher retention and effectiveness is teacher job satisfaction, which refers to a teacher's overall emotional and cognitive experience within their occupation, working conditions and professional well-being (Hoque et al., 2023). Job satisfaction describes the mindset that directly influences teachers' enthusiasm, commitment to teaching and daily work efficiency. It is also strongly linked to student achievement, as satisfied teachers are more engaged in their instruction, leading to improved student performance (Hoque et al., 2023).

Furthermore, from an organizational commitment perspective, increasing job satisfaction enhances teachers' sense of identity and belonging within their school community, making the profession more attractive and sustainable. Research highlights a strong correlation between induction programs, professional learning and teacher job satisfaction, reinforcing the idea that well-supported teachers are not only more likely to stay in the profession but are also better equipped to foster student success (Aarts et al., 2020; Nguyen et al., 2020).

> Ultimately, teacher induction programs are not just about keeping teachers in the profession — they are about ensuring students are taught by high-quality educators who are motivated, well-trained and committed to excellence in the classroom.

Data to Support the Need for Induction

In 2023, there were an estimated 55,300 teacher vacancies nationwide, with 32,200 or 58% of those vacancies in the South, according to Annenberg Institute. SREB estimates the vacancy count in the South to actually be 39,700 in the same year. Nationwide there were 270,500 teaching positions filled by staff who were underqualified for their position (Nguyen et al, 2022).

The teacher turnover rate has increased yearly since 2020, reaching 18.2% in the South in 2022-23, with a 45% turnover rate for teachers in their first five years of teaching among the states reporting. Several SREB states had high average turnover rates in 2022-23: the highest include 25.6% in Arkansas, 24.9% in Kentucky and 24% in Oklahoma. These figures compare poorly with teacher attrition globally, which comes in at just over 9% in 2022, according to the book *Global Report on Teachers*.

A growing number of newly hired teachers need additional support to be effective in the classroom. In the South as of 2023, 18.2% of teachers are inexperienced, 10% are uncertified and 9.2% are out-of-field. There is a disproportionate impact on low-income students. Students in high-poverty schools are 48% more likely to have an out-of-field teacher, 35% more likely to have an inexperienced teacher, and 60% more likely to have an uncertified teacher than students in low-poverty schools.



University preparation programs for teachers are also enrolling and graduating fewer teachers each year. Between 2009 and 2014 national statistics showed a 35% decrease in enrollment in teacher preparation programs and a 23% decrease in completion of those programs (Sutcher et al., 2019).

Continuing that downward trend and looking more specifically at the South, between 2013 and 2023 SREB states saw a 25% drop in graduates of teacher preparation programs. These trends lead to long-term shortages of fully prepared teachers for the South if they continue.

Supporting Policy & Practice

For decades, SREB has analyzed data and research and convened leaders to support action to improve teacher preparation, recruitment, licensure, effectiveness, support and retention. SREB has created one-of-a-kind data dashboards and embarked on new research for the field with Vanderbilt University to help with evidence-based decision making. SREB's Teacher Preparation Commission recommended in 2019 that all teacher candidates be required to meet the same high criteria for licensure, whether their preparation is traditional or alternative. The Commission also recommended prioritizing investment in paid yearlong residencies for teacher candidates, rather than traditional one-semester clinical experiences.

At SREB, we've learned that school improvement works when change efforts are grounded in a shared vision and mission, teachers and leaders own their efforts, and ongoing support builds capacity within the school and the district to sustain positive change. Our research-based, time-tested school improvement process puts K-12 leaders, teachers and counselors in the driver's seat and gives them the wraparound support, ongoing professional learning and coaching, challenging curricula like our "out of the box" *Advanced Career* pathways, and transformative instructional strategies they need to shift their practices from good to great. In turn, lessons from this work in practice is used to help strengthen our work in policy.

SREB Teacher Induction Framework Core Components and Elements of Success

Effective induction is a key element of support so that teachers grow and remain in the profession. SREB has developed this teacher induction framework to help states and districts build comprehensive systems to support novice teachers and their mentors.

SREB's teacher induction framework identifies four evidence-based components of effective comprehensive induction programs, with elements of success for each:

- A tiered support system for novice and mentor teachers
- Leadership for new teacher success and retention
- High-quality mentoring
- Professional learning for positive teacher and student outcomes



Tiered Support System for Educators

Comprehensive approach that fosters professional growth for novice teachers, mentors and school leaders.



Continuum of Support

No Support

Educators receive no formal guidance or help from leaders, designated mentors, coaches or other professional support.

Compliance-Driven

As part of a required support program, educators complete growth plans and consult with mentors.

Problem-Driven

Mentoring structures and learning activities are linked to specific challenges encountered by educators.

People-Driven

Leaders, mentors, coaches, professional learning communities and other growth strategies collectively support educators' entry and progress

Induction should help novice teachers successfully adapt to the culture and context of the school where they begin their teaching career and help teachers have a positive impact on student learning. It should respond to novice teachers' pedagogical needs, bolster their confidence in their ability to teach the content, and help them grow their instructional expertise and professional identity.

For mentor teachers, support should expand their leadership skills, particularly in the areas of leading professional learning, providing effective instructional strategies, and conducting observations with meaningful and actionable feedback.

Many school districts provide limited support for their novice teachers and mentors.

Effective induction programs provide individualized experiences for each teacher, with support specific to the person, grade level and content area assigned for that school year, as well as challenges encountered. Effective induction provides strong support not only to novice teachers, but also to the mentor teachers and school leaders who serve as professional role models for early career teachers.



All educators need support in their roles, especially those who have entered a new role, such as early career teachers, new teacher leaders and novice administrators. Quality support should be varied and layered, with different support coming from different sources, and targeted support varying in intensity based on individual need.

To ensure a robust and effective induction experience for novice teachers, districts should establish a comprehensive, tiered system of support that fosters the professional growth of novice educators, their mentors, and even the skills and capacity of school administrators as instructional leaders (New Teacher Center, 2021). Effective induction programs require cohesive support that includes leadership, mentoring, professional learning and coaching strategies in each tier. This involves both policy and practice.

A comprehensive induction system features the other three components detailed in the SREB Framework: a strong leadership focus, well-structured mentoring and targeted professional learning.

Support System Policies

District and school leaders need to develop policies that set the stage for the success of a high-quality induction program. These policies should be aligned with the latest research and adhere to state-specific guidelines and expectations (New Teacher Center, 2021). Policies should address the following:

- the duration of the induction periods
- workload of novice teachers, criteria for mentor selection
- training for mentors planning and collaboration time for mentors
- compensation for additional workload for mentor teachers
- accountability for the program's implementation

For more on evidence-based teacher support policies at both the state and local level, see these SREB's reports:

- Teacher Induction Policies
- Blueprint to Solve Teacher Shortages for State Leaders
- Blueprint to Solve Teacher Shortages for School and District Leaders

Elements for Success

District and school leaders should:

- 1. **Program Structure:** Establish clear, concise and accessible policies, expectations and processes for teacher induction and mentoring. Responsibilities and services provided by district and school staff, as well as partner organizations, are clearly articulated, well-aligned and complementary.
- 2. Program Duration: Require induction for no less than two years. Three years is optimal.
- **3. Workload Protections:** Limit additional duties for novice teachers and provide ample planning time to onboard and collaborate.
- 4. Mentor Selection: Establish specific, rigorous criteria based on research, including characteristics of an effective mentor and instructional effectiveness. Require monitoring to ensure these criteria are upheld.
- 5. Mentor Compensation: Provide additional pay to recognize added mentor responsibilities.
- 6. Mentor Time: Include release from classroom and other duties to meet with mentees, conduct observations, complete paperwork and fulfill other requirements during work hours.
- 7. Data Monitoring: Require annual collection and analysis to determine whether novice and mentor teachers receive adequate support and whether program expectations are met.
- 8. Policy Review: Regular reviews at least every three years ensure alignment with current research and state-level expectations.



Support System Implementation

Processes are essential to ensure that policies are followed in practice to support both novice teachers and their mentors.

A cohort approach fosters a strong peer-support network, reinforced by guidance from mentors, administrators, and experienced educators at multiple levels within the school and district. A key benefit is the deep sense of community it cultivates, offering both emotional and professional support, both of which are especially crucial during the early years of teaching. Research indicates that teachers in cohort models report higher satisfaction levels, as they feel more connected with peers, have access to collaborative learning opportunities and benefit from shared experiences (Gilles et al., 2010).

Teacher induction should include a formal orientation prior to the school year to prepare novice teachers for the challenges of the classroom. Additionally, the system should establish a structured process for mentors to observe new teachers and provide meaningful, growth-oriented feedback aimed at refining both instructional skills and overall professional practice. New teachers who spent substantial time on instructional strategies and lesson planning with their mentors were more likely to stay in their district, showing that mentoring focused on meaningful topics can improve retention (Maready et al., 2021; SREB, 2018).

Not all services must be delivered by school or district staff. Supports can be supplemented by partners such as local university educator preparation program faculty, associations or regional service agencies. It is important to plan what services will be provided by others, at what cost and for how long, and to create a sustainability plan in case partner offerings change.



Elements for Success

District and school leaders should:

- 1. Progress Monitoring: Track implementation during and at the end of the year, including novice teacher growth, student learning impact and retention, mentor teacher selection, impact and retention, and partner organization services. Use reviews for accountability, fidelity and continuous improvement.
- 2. Individualized Support: Provide tiered support for novice teachers from district and school leadership, mentors, targeted professional learning, instructional coaching and professional learning communities.
- **3. Program Orientation:** Begin with a required session before the school year starts, introducing novice teachers to the district and school community, protocols, support structures and instructional initiatives. Host a make-up session for those hired after the year begins.
- 4. Cohort Model: Build community and networking opportunities, allowing groups of novice teachers and mentors to collaborate separately.
- 5. Consistent Support: Offer regular check-ins for novices from mentors and school leaders, such as weekly meetings or monthly small groups.
- 6. Meaningful Feedback: Provide formal and informal classroom observations with constructive feedback and follow-up support from mentors, administrators and district staff.
- 7. Resource Access: Organize and share materials so they are easily available. Examples include a one-stop-shop, Google Classroom or Canvas.
- 8. Mentor Support: District and school leaders deliver tiered support to mentors, including targeted professional learning, coaching and learning communities.
- **9. Leader Development:** Provide professional learning and coaching to help administrators support the individual needs of novice teachers and mentors.
- **10. Educator Well-Being:** Ensure leaders are mindful of educator wellness by providing mentor and leader training on best practices.

Core Component Leadership for Teacher Success and Retention

The role of leaders in teacher induction is to create a supportive and professional environment that encourages and recognizes the growth of novice teachers and their mentors. District leaders from human resources, the professional learning office, and the curriculum and instruction team should develop, implement and monitor policies that:

- enable teacher and leader collaboration;
- value professional learning, such as workshops, coaching, mentoring and meaningful feedback; and
- provide layers of support to novice teachers and mentor teachers

District and school leaders then put these policies into practice.

Systems-Focused Instructional Leadership

Strong instructional leadership is critical to a proactive induction environment where every teacher has high-impact support to grow professionally and improve student outcomes. Establishing and maintaining quality induction programs is unlikely without committed leadership at both the district and school level.

Strong instructional leaders serve as visionaries, inspiring staff to make student-centered decisions. They foster an environment where both students and staff thrive. They create a culture of learning in which teachers are actively guided in improving their instructional practices through regular observations, feedback and professional learning. By modeling a collaborative approach, leaders create opportunities for teachers to reflect, share strategies and grow in their craft.

At the same time, instructional leaders cultivate a school culture rooted in trust, respect and high expectations, creating an environment where both educators and students thrive. By setting clear values, engaging families and ensuring learning opportunities for all students, strong leaders cultivate a sense of community and belonging that support academic success and personal growth.

Effective instructional leaders focus on driving continuous improvement. This is done by setting growth expectations and leading by example, as well as providing a strong emphasis on and implementation of observations and feedback processes for individual growth. These supervisory observations, both formal and informal, should be for identifying individual growth strategies that leaders, coaches and mentors can provide. They can also be used as part of the educator evaluation process. All educators need involved supervisors who provide this instructional leadership, no matter their preparation or experience level, licensure status or career trajectory.

Elements for Success

Leaders should:

- 1. Vision Sharing: Communicate the school's mission to all stakeholders in multiple ways to foster a sense of belonging among students and staff.
- 2. Staff Presence: Support personnel by being consistently and actively visible during the school day with guidance, prompt support, observations and actionable feedback.
- **3.** Data Analysis: Collaborate with staff to use data for informed decision making. Align policies, instructional strategies and resource allocation with student and staff needs and the strategic plan.
- 4. Reflective Practice: Engage in collaborative reflection with faculty and staff.
- 5. Assessment Consistency: Ensure grading practices are consistent, fair and aligned with district and school instructional goals.
- 6. Student Engagement: Demonstrate a clear understanding of classroom engagement and assist teachers in using strategies that motivate and challenge students.
- 7. Classroom Culture: Actively support positive environments, providing resources, learning opportunities and guidance to help teachers create settings where students feel safe, respected and motivated to learn.
- 8. Teacher Recognition: Celebrate accomplishments to foster a culture of appreciation and highlight the impact of effective teaching on student success.



Induction-Focused Instructional Leadership

District and school leaders should use their strong instructional leadership skills to support novice teachers during their induction period. In particular, they provide mentorship structures, tailored professional learning, collaborative opportunities, constructive feedback, emotional support and access to essential resources. These actions are key to helping novice teachers transition smoothly into the profession and grow into effective educators.

District and school leaders play a critical role in supporting novice teachers by establishing mentorship programs that pair them with effective educators, offering guidance on instructional strategies, classroom management and school culture — key factors in teacher success and retention (Sims & Fletcher-Wood, 2018). They also provide targeted professional learning for both new teachers and mentors, focusing on high-impact teaching techniques, assessment practices, and classroom procedures to build confidence and competence (Kraft et al., 2018).

Leaders ensure mentors receive training in coaching, delivering unbiased and actionable feedback, and supporting novice teachers' professional and emotional well-being. Principals foster collaborative school environments, encouraging participation in professional learning communities and family engagement, which enhances teacher efficacy and reduces isolation (Ronfeldt et al., 2018).

Regular classroom observations by administrators and mentors offer constructive, non-evaluative feedback that promotes professional growth over time (Papay & Johnson, 2018). Leaders also provide emotional support and create safe spaces for discussing challenges to help prevent burnout (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2018), while ensuring new teachers have access to necessary classroom resources and technology to boost preparedness (Voss et al., 2019).

Elements for Success

Leaders should:

- 1. Mentoring Program: Implement a structured system that assigns strategically selected teachers as mentors, requires regular collaborative meetings, and gathers feedback from both teacher and mentor to ensure a constructive experience.
- 2. Mentor Development: Provide skill-building, professional learning and ongoing support and feedback to cultivate a strong set of mentor teachers.
- **3.** Teacher Feedback: Offer novice educators actionable input tied to observable practices, including recommendations for growth, with follow-up to monitor progress and provide support.
- 4. Professional Learning: Organize required learning that addresses common novice teacher challenges, supports acclimation to the school and provides opportunities to build the leadership skills of mentor teachers.
- 5. Collaboration Time: Schedule opportunities throughout the year for novice teachers to connect with peers at their school and across the district, fostering their sense of support and belonging.
- 6. Supportive Environment: Create a culture where novice teachers feel comfortable approaching principals and other leaders (such as assistant principals or mentors) about successes and challenges.
- 7. Resource Access: Ensure novice teachers can easily find and effectively use the materials and tools they need.

Core Component High-Quality Mentoring

To effectively support today's new teacher workforce, a comprehensive teacher induction program must be responsive, personalized and focused on instruction. New teachers, whether they are prepared and certified traditionally, provisionally or alternatively, face significant challenges that require targeted support (New Teacher Center, 2024).

Selecting effective mentors is critical for the success of novice teachers. Effective mentoring is rooted in mentors' proven ability to deliver rigorous, standards-based instruction that meets their own students' academic and emotional needs. Mentors should also possess strong interpersonal skills, experience working with adult learners and an ability to build supportive relationships with mentees. Selection of mentors should prioritize their capability to elevate both teacher practice and student learning outcomes (SREB, 2018).

Robust mentoring should be tailored to meet novice teachers where they are. It should provide individualized and just-in-time support and include:

- designated weekly meeting time for mentoring sessions;
- collaborative planning assistance to help novice teachers prepare effective lessons;
- opportunities for both virtual and face-to-face observations with meaningful and actionable feedback;
- professional learning focused on deepening novice teachers' content knowledge, instructional

practices and classroom management procedures;

- timely support tailored to immediate needs;
- guidance on time management to help novice teachers prioritize tasks, attend to their well-being and prevent burnout; and
- small group or professional learning community meetings for peer support and collaboration among novice teachers.

By fostering an environment of comprehensive support and collaboration, districts and schools can better equip new teachers to thrive in their roles.



Balancing dual roles of a classroom teacher and mentor teacher

Evidence is mounting that the most effective mentors are mentor teachers who are connected to the same students as the novice teacher. But how can classroom teachers effectively do their jobs and mentor additional colleagues?

In the traditional one-on-one mentoring model, one mentor teacher supports one novice teacher. For mentors to provide meaningful support, they need designated time to fulfill their mentor duties – meet with their mentee, assist in analyzing student data and lesson planning, and provide actionable feedback after a classroom observation.

Impactful models are emerging to help schools shift from a one classroom, one teacher model to innovative team teaching approaches that incorporate varied roles for teachers depending on their abilities, skills and needs. Team teaching models allows mentor teachers to continue teaching students, while collaboratively coaching one to four other teachers, through a resetting of schedules, student load, support staff and planning time.

Strategically staffing schools can lay a foundation and establish the structures needed for promoting more comprehensive systems of support and modernizing the teaching profession. Staffing schools with well-trained mentor teachers who lead other teachers is a model that can provide educators with opportunities to feel fulfilled by their responsibilities and the support they receive. This approach also creates opportunities for learning, professional growth and salary increases for increased duties and impact.

No matter the mentoring structure used, it is imperative that school and district leaders provide mentors with the release time they need to effectively provide these supports, which could be done by using assistants, resident teachers or substitute teachers, or by decreasing a mentor's course load. It is also just as important to provide mentor teachers with training, coaching, feedback and compensation so they're appropriately prepared and supported in this key role.

To learn more on mentoring and innovative staffing models, see these resources:

- SREB brief: Mentoring New Teachers
- New Teacher Center: High Quality Mentoring & Instructional Coaching Practices
- Opportunity Culture model from Public Impact
- Next Education Workforce model from Arizona State University
- Residencies and Strategic Staffing model from US PREP
- Strategic Staffing Framework from Education First

Targeted Mentoring

Targeted, planned mentoring for novice teachers emphasizes the development of teaching practices and pedagogical skills over time. It involves deliberate attention to aspects of the novice teacher's practice aligned with individual growth goals, strengths and challenges. The idea is to provide structured support that addresses the most relevant needs of the novice teacher.

The key components of targeted mentoring include goal setting, reflective practice, collaborative observations and constructive feedback that is unbiased and non-evaluative. Collaborative observations, where the mentor observes the novice teacher in action, is followed by probing questions and feedback. This encourages dialogue about effective teaching practices.

Building strong, supportive relationships with novice teachers is foundational for effective, structured mentoring. This creates a nurturing environment that fosters confidence and trust.

Elements for Success

Mentors should:

- 1. Trust Building: Work to establish a strong, supportive relationship with the mentee.
- 2. Meetings: Set regular, informal times (beyond hallway chats) to reflect on progress and determine next steps.
- **3. Targeted Support:** Provide the appropriate level of help to meet the immediate needs of the novice teacher.
- 4. Goal Setting: Assist the novice teacher in identifying professional growth objectives.
- 5. Non-Evaluative Coaching: Offer coaching that build trust, creating a supportive, non-threatening environment.
- 6. Resource Sharing: Promote evidence-based instructional practices. Supply materials for effective lesson planning.
- 7. Classroom Guidance: Help create a safe, organized and motivating environment for all students.
- 8. Instructional Modeling: Exhibit high-quality teaching and effective lesson delivery.
- **9.** Reflective Feedback: Ask probing questions and give quality input after each observation to support collaborative reflection.

Just-in-Time Mentoring

Just-in-time mentoring is immediate feedback and resources in the moment. This approach acknowledges that novice teachers often face challenges that require timely intervention and prompt support, while also allowing for deeper reflection and guidance in scheduled sessions. Mentors can provide heavy or light coaching to meet immediate needs. And teachers can take feedback and suggested strategies directly to their classroom, building their confidence.

The benefits of just-in-time mentoring for novice teachers are multifaceted. First, just-in-time mentoring promotes a culture of collaboration and continuous improvement. Early career teachers develop professional relationships that can last throughout their careers. Secondly, just-in-time coaching encourages reflective practice. It allows novice teachers to analyze their teaching methods through digital platforms or in-person meetings and use real-time feedback to improve their instruction and student learning. Additionally, just-in-time support creates a supportive system where teachers are empowered to thrive in a community, reducing the feelings of isolation that new teachers often experience.

Supporting new teachers needs to be more than just sharing information, providing instructional coaching and designing professional learning. It should be delivered with empathy, perspective and advice. Mentors need to be thought partners and skill developers for novice teachers, as well as a shoulder to lean on (SREB, 2018).

Elements for Success

Mentors should:

- 1. Accessibility: Maintain an open-door policy to respond to the novice teacher's immediate needs as they arise.
- 2. Relationship Building: Sustain a continuous, trusting connection with novice teachers using strong listening skills and empathy.
- **3.** Well-Being: Stay attentive to the novice teacher's wellness and apply best practices to reduce stress and promote overall health.
- 4. Work-life Balance: Help novices maintain a healthy equilibrium to work and personal life.
- 5. Self-Reflection: Encourage reflective practices through strategies such as journaling.
- 6. Empowerment: Provide tools to build confidence and develop self-efficacy in novice teachers.



All teachers, at every level of experience, need professional learning support. High-quality professional learning cultivates skilled educational professionals who meet the needs of their students and improve student outcomes. Effective induction programs also enhance the teacher-leadership skills of mentor teachers.

Novice Teacher Development

Ongoing professional learning, through training and instructional coaching, is a critical element of induction and the foundation for the growth of teachers as professionals. Effective teaching is built through professional learning that aligns with educational goals and standards, promotes collaboration and emphasizes practical classroom applications. This targeted development equips novice teachers with the tools to implement meaningful changes in their practice, ultimately fostering effective teaching and learning (Prenger et al., 2020).

As novice teachers embark on their careers, they transition from foundational knowledge — gained through formal education — to the practical application of those concepts in the classroom. Induction should provide novice teachers with the necessary tools, strategies and support to navigate this transition effectively (Saunders, et al., 2024). Additionally, professional learning opportunities should support novice teachers in understanding their schools' local context and the needs of the student body.

A comprehensive and effective induction program, designed to deliver consistent results and withstand challenges, incorporates professional learning focused on improving teaching methods, fostering a positive classroom culture and addressing the many individual needs of students (SREB, 2018). Ongoing professional learning offers novice teachers a structured pathway to acquire the skills and qualifications for professional certification.

It is essential for school leadership to dedicate protected time for professional growth in collaborative professional learning, instructional unit planning and lesson development (SREB, 2018).

"High-quality professional learning develops novice teachers' instructional skills so they can meet the unique needs of every student."

Elements for Success

District, school leaders and mentors should:

- 1. Adult Learning: Provide ongoing, timely professional development that addresses the unique needs of new teachers. Topics include the teacher certification process, standards-based instruction and classroom routines.
- 2. **Program Orientation:** Offer professional learning to novices on district programs and resources that support and enhance professional growth.
- **3.** Evaluation Preparation: Deliver training to help novice teachers navigate the district evaluation process, including setting goals, meeting timelines, collecting artifacts, participating in observations and completing the final evaluation.
- 4. Classroom Culture: Support novice teacher skill-building in creating positive classroom environments through active, focused and respectful student engagement and accessible learning opportunities for every student.
- **5. Instructional Differentiation:** Provide development on strategies for responsive teaching that meets the varied needs of students, including multilingual learners and those with disabilities.
- 6. Instructional Planning: Dedicate time for collaborative learning on standards-aligned units and student-centered lessons using high-impact strategies and content-specific pedagogy. Novice teachers learn alongside veterans to help all students meet or exceed expectations.
- **7. Data Use:** Allocate time for teacher and staff teams to analyze student assessment data collaboratively and use findings to improve instruction focused on student needs.



Mentor Teacher Development

Experienced teachers benefit significantly from training and coaching to enhance their skills as teacher-leaders (Sancar et al., 2021). They need high-quality professional learning and resources to hone their skills in coaching and supporting adults.

Having a highly trained, highly qualified mentor plays a significant role in the successful development and retention of teachers (Kraft & Papay, 2020). A successful mentoring program should establish clear objectives that align with the professional learning of mentors, the growth of novice teachers and the district or organization's overall goals. Targeted training should help mentors build trust with their mentees by maintaining consistency, listening actively and providing actionable feedback on classroom observations.

Mentor professional learning should emphasize the importance of professionalism, including clear boundaries and respect for confidentiality. It should equip mentors with the skills to adopt a non-judgmental and non-evaluative attitude. It should also provide mentors with strategies for encouraging novice teachers' well-being. Mentors should learn to facilitate regular discussions about goal setting and progress monitoring (Templeton et al., 2021).

Additionally, professional learning should include opportunities for mentors to evaluate and celebrate their own progress as instructional leaders.

Elements for Success

District, school leaders and mentors should do the following:

- 1. Role Development: Provide mentors with professional learning on their responsibilities in developing novice teachers, with emphasis on maintaining a non-evaluative mindset, supporting both professional and personal growth, navigating complex situations with integrity, exhibiting professionalism and promoting a culture of respect, trust, confidentiality and accountability.
- 2. Adult Learning: Deepen mentors' understanding of how adults learn. Include concepts such as honoring prior experience, practicing effective communication and using strategic questioning to foster self-reflection.
- **3. Goal Setting:** Instruct mentors in the techniques that bring clarity and focus to the mentoring process, such as supporting novice teachers in identifying short- and long-term goals, applying strategies to track progress and celebrating milestones.
- 4. Feedback Practice: Develop the skills of mentors to conduct observations and offer nonevaluative, actionable input in a supportive environment. Expand mentors' content and pedagogical knowledge to foster continuous improvement.
- 5. Learning Design: Build the skills of mentors to create and deliver professional learning experiences that meet the evolving needs of novice teachers.
- 6. Wellness Support: Strengthen mentors' capacity to promote novice teacher well-being by listening actively, showing empathy, recognizing signs of distress, building trust and leveraging available resources.
- 7. Data Use: Develop mentors' understanding of how to collect and document data and use metrics to assess accomplishments within the mentor-mentee partnership.

Sources

- Aarts, R., Kools, Q., & Schildwacht, R. (2020). Providing a good start. Concerns of beginning secondary school teachers and support provided. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 43(2), 277-295. https://doi.org/10.1080/02619768.2019.1693992
- Carver-Thomas, D., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2019). The trouble with teacher turnover: How teacher attrition affects students and schools. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, *27*(36). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1213629.pdf
- Education Commission of the States. (2022, December) *50-State Comparison: Teacher recruitment and retention*. https://reports.ecs.org/comparisons/teacher-recruitment-and-retention-2022-07
- Espinoza, D., Saunders, R., Kini, T., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2018). *Taking the long view: State efforts to solve teacher shortages by strengthening the profession*. Learning Policy Institute. https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/prosduct/long-view-report
- Glazerman, S., Isenberg, E., Dolfin, S., Bleeker, M., Johnson, A., Grider, M., & Jacobus, M. (2010). *Impacts of comprehensive teacher induction:Final results from a randomized controlled study* (NCEE 20104027). National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education. http://ies.ed.gov/ncee/pubs/20104027/
- Gilles, C., Wilson, J., & Elias, M. (2010). Sustaining teachers' growth and renewal through action research, induction programs, and communities of practice. *Journal of Inquiry & Action in Education*, *3*(3), 91-116. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1034143.pdf
- Hoque, K. E., Wang, X., Qi, Y., & Norzan, N. (2023). The factors associated with teachers' job satisfaction and their impacts on students' achievement: a review (2010–2021). *Humanities and Social Sciences Communications, 10*, 177 https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-023-01645-7
- Ingersoll, R. M. (2012, May 16). Beginning teacher induction: What the data tell us. *Education Week*. https://www.edweek.org/teaching-learning/opinion-beginning-teacher-induction-what-the-data-tell-us/2012/05
- Ingersoll, R. M., & May, H. (2011). The Minority teacher shortage: Fact or fable? *Phi Delta Kappn- Education Week*, 93(1), 62-65. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/003172171109300111
- Ingersoll, R. M., & Strong, M. (2011). The impact of induction and mentoring programs for beginning teachers: A critical review of the research. *Review of Educational Research*, *81*(2), 201-233. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654311403323
- Kessels, C. (2010, June). The influence of induction programs on beginning teachers' well-being and professional development. [Doctoral dissertation, Leiden University Graduate School of Teaching]. Leiden University Repository. https://scholarlypublications.universiteitleiden.nl/access/item%3A2926897/view
- Kraft, M. A., Blazar, D., & Hogan, D. (2018). The effect of teacher coaching on instruction and achievement: A metaanalysis of the causal evidence. *Review of Educational Research*, 88(4), 547-588. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654318759268
- Kraft, M. A., & Papay, J. P. (2020, December 9). The relationship between teacher intentions, turnover behavior, and school conditions. *Brookings Institution*. https://www.brookings.edu/articles/the-relationship-between-teacher-intentions-turnover-behavior-and-schoolconditions/
- Kunter, M., Klusmann, U., Baumert, J., Richter, D., Voss, T., & Hachfeld, A. (2013). Professional competence of teachers: Effects on instructional quality and student development. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 105(3), 805–820. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032583
- Maready, B., Cheng, Q., & Bunch, D. (2021). Exploring mentoring practices contributing to new teacher retention: An analysis of the beginning teacher longitudinal study. *International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching and Mentoring*, 19(2), 88-99.

New Teacher Center. (2021). *Teacher induction program standards*. https://ntc.widen.net/s/xxg8hnfw6w/ti-program-standards-rb21

New Teacher Center. (2024), *Mentoring for a changing teacher workforce*. https://newteachercenter.org/resources/mentoring-for-a-changing-teacher-workforce/

- Nguyen, T. D., Lam, C. B., & Bruno, P. (2022). *Is there a national teacher shortage? A systematic examination of reports of teacher shortages in the United States.* (EdWorkingPaper No. 22-631). Annenberg Institute at Brown University. https://doi.org/10.26300/76eq-hj32
- Nguyen, T. D., Pham, L. D., Crouch, M., & Springer, M. G. (2020). The correlates of teacher turnover: An updated and expanded meta-analysis of the literature. *Educational Research Review*, *31*, 100355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2020.100355
- Papay, J. P., & Johnson, S. M. (2018). How principals influence teachers. Educational Leadership, 75(6), 38-43.
- Prenger, R., Poortman, C. L., & Handelzalts, A. (2020). Professional learning networks: From teacher learning to school improvement? *Journal of Educational Change, 22*, 13-52. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10833-020-09383-2
- Ronfeldt, M., Farmer, S. O., McQueen, K., & Grissom, J. A. (2015). Teacher Collaboration in Instructional Teams and Student Achievement. *American Educational Research Journal*, *52*(3), 475-514.
- Sancar, R., Atal, D., & Deryakulu, D. (2021). A new framework for teachers' professional development. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *101*,103305). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2021.103305
- Sancassani, P. (2023). The effect of teacher subject-specific qualifications on student science achievement. *Labour Economics, 80*, 102309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2022.102309
- Saunders, A. F., Wakeman, S., Cerrato, B., & Johnson, H. (2024). Professional development with ongoing coaching: A model for improving educators' implementation of evidence-based practices. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *56*(6), 430–439. https://doi.org/10.1177/00400599211049821
- Sims, S., & Fletcher-Wood, H. (2018). Characteristics of effective teacher professional development: What we know, what we don't, how we can find out. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement, 29*(3), 339-367. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED615914.pdf
- Skaalvik, E. M., & Skaalvik, S. (2018). Job satisfaction, stress, and coping strategies in the teaching profession: What do novice teachers say? *International Education Studies*, 11(3), 43-58. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1060892.pdf
- Southern Regional Education Board. (2018). *Mentoring new teachers: A fresh look*. https://www.sreb.org/sites/main/files/file-attachments/mentoring_new_teachers_2.pdf?1516727553
- Southern Regional Education Board. (2019). *Report of the SREB Teacher Preparation Commission: State policies to improve teacher preparation executive summary.* https://www.sreb.org/sites/main/files/file-attachments/2019_teacherprep_exsummary.pdf?1567622158
- Southern Regional Education Board. (2024). Teacher Shortage Data by State, 2019-23. https://www.sreb.org/teacher-workforce-data-state
- Sutcher, L., Darling-Hammond, L., & Carver-Thomas, D. (2019). Understanding teacher shortages: An analysis of teacher supply and demand in the United States. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 27(35). https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.27.3696
- Templeton, N. R., Jeong, S., & Pugliese, E. (2021). Mentoring for continuous improvement in teaching and learning. *Mentoring & Tutoring: Partnership in Learning, 29*(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1080/13611267.2021.1922152
- UNESCO. (2024). *Global report on teachers: Addressing teacher shortages and transforming the profession*. International Task Force on Teachers for Education 2030.

https://www.unesco.org/en/articles/global-report-teachers-addressing-teacher-shortages-and-transforming-profession

- Villar, A., & Strong, M. (2007). Is mentoring worth the money? A benefit-cost analysis and five- year rate of return of a comprehensive mentoring program for beginning teachers. *ERS Spectrum*, 25(3), 1-17. https://edsource.org/wp-content/uploads/old/ment-8.pdf
- Young, V. M., Schmidt, R. A., Wang, H., Cassidy, L., & Laguarda, K. (2017). A comprehensive model of teacher induction: Implementation and impact on teachers and students evaluation of the New Teacher Center's i3 validation grant (Final report). SRI International.

https://www.sri.com/publication/a-comprehensive-model-of-teacher-induction-implementation-and-impact-on-teachers-and-students-evaluation-of-the-new-teacher-centers-i3-validation-grant-final-report/

SREB

Southern Regional Education Board 592 10th St., N.W. Atlanta, GA 30318-5776 (404) 875-9211

SREB.org

July 2025



The Southern Regional Education Board works with states to improve education at every level, from early childhood through doctoral education and the workforce. An interstate compact and a nonprofit, nonpartisan organization based in Atlanta, SREB was created in 1948 by Southern governors and legislatures to advance education and improve the social and economic life of the region. SREB states are Alabama, Arkansas, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia and West Virginia.